October 1, 1942

Today was the first full day of work end I felt much better.
I got up at 8 and rushed to works Halle gave us all a lecture in which
none of us learned a damn thing because she kept saying the same thing
over and over again. A number of people came in to see Mrs. iurayama.
lae Miyamoto began working there today. I interviewed my first man
for a P.As grant. He was very cooperative and I had no difficulty
in getiing the necessary dope from him.

Lunch was very greasy. We got some things from Wardev-a shaver
and a book. :

I went back to work. Nothing was left to be done and since
Naoke and Halle were gome I spent the aftermoon going through the
records on grante. I found some very interesting cases on record
abthough the information was very incomplete. I talked to Naoke
and lrs. Murayama about some of the cases. lirs. Murayams told me
of some of her 'interesting' cases involving sex difficulties.
She seemed to realise that I was there for records and suggested
ways and means of getting the dope under Halle's nose.

We had stew for supper egein. I wae reading Peekl Buck's The
Bood Earth when Kay and Keiko came in. They went with Tomi to the
ULCe Club meeting. I went lookking for Nej but couldn't find him.

At the meeting we discussed citisemship. I did quite a bit of
yelling and meny who hed come intending to back up the J.A.C,L. merely
muttered to themselves and didn't dare stand up end ssy what they
pertially believed. Hayashi suggested that we have a tri-state advance
in which all college students in the camp would get together and plan
things and asked me to be chairmen. Shiro Tokuno and I tried hard
and finally succeeded in emending Heyashi's motion to supporting a
Cal Club sponsored open mass meeting for all citizems. The motion
carried with no opposition and we started on the plans.

I was a bit apprehensive because it seemed that either the
JeleCols or our group wes getting hooked into something. Welt Tsu-
kemeto was to speek and so was I, I selected a committee and we ironed
out all the details. Jobo was anxious to get some speaker to get up
to demand that the Nisei overthrow the Isseli and teke over the camp.

After the meeting broke up I went to rouse Naj from his work and
we all went over to the Miyemotos and discussed the whole thing. Ve
argued and argued but Naj refused to do anything. Frank was very
happy about the whole thing. We then talked about the welfare depart-
ment and some of the cases until 12.

At home it was so cold that we had to build a fire. I thought
of the uniform replies of all Tsukemoto cronies. When I said that
there were rumors going about the camp, Mas Sakada and Sakae Hayashi
had jumped up and said that the rumor had not been disproved since
Besig's telegram séid thet the "Congress" had nol passed the bill--
and maybe the House did amd the Senate didn't.




October 2, 1942

I got up'at 8:30 and was late to work. I just got there in
time for the lecture. Halle left about 10 so I went over to Elberson's
office and talked to Fumi about the meeting. Koso dislikes the
JeAoColis tremendously and wanted some other group to take over. Bob
was there toos. I went out with BDob and etood around talking to him
until Elberson came back in his car. The grill of the car was mashed
in and cuss words were written all over the hood. Elberson simply
laughed and remarked at the Americaniszetion of the person who had
written the cuss words. He was more concerned about the lousy men
in the administration than in the fact that someone had bashed in his
grill--which was irreplaceamble. He felt that the basic difficulty
was that the stopid men in the administration were not letting the
Japanese make enough of the decisiomns. He said that Peck was a son
of a biteh and had said that the Jape had no right to haul him before
the Council to talk. Elberson was mad as hell snd called him a dirty
fascist.

At 12, Bob took Mrs. Murayama and me home. We had fish for
lunch. I read Good Egrth for a while mnd then saw Frank and Michi.
Bob and Hanny came over and said that they were going down to the
Bay Region. The girls got together and ordered some chow meain.
Frank gave me one of the copies he had of the erticle he had written
on evacuation in tho Annals.

I went over to the office and found no Halle. I read Park and
Miller's 01d World Traits Transplanted and then telked to lrs. Murayama
about inter-racial marriage. GShe was worried that Comnie would marry
a Caucasian. At that point Jim came in and dominated the conversation
so I left. ;

We had fish for supper again. I palnned the lecture and then
rushed to class. We telked about modern racialism. Miss Light talked
up and we had a long discussion. I went over to the Hisatomis with
Mise Light and we talked until about 1l. Miss Light said that her
mother was from the South and said that she herslef had acquired her
humanitarian attitudes in the church groups.

I walked to the firehouse with her: On the way home we stopped
at the Miyamotoe and talked fora while.




Ooctober 3, 1942

I had to get up this morming at 7:30 because of an upsei stomach.
In the latrine I saw Mr., Sato. He had seen the notice about Fublic
Assistance grante in the paper. le said that he didn't need it but
wanted to get anything that could be gotten. The man next to him
disagreed. He seid that Socisl Security grants were betier.

T went to 1608 and found plemty of cases to interview since lirs.
talle hed ennounced in the paper that the office would take eny and
all applicants for grants. Before long, however, I got notice of a
telegram. I took Urs, Halle's carg to the ad. building. It was
a wire from Mppton. He said that the rumor was not true because
the State Depariment dissapproved of the bill.

I found that because of a weak battery the car wouldn't start
again, I went to the garage but foumnd difficulty in getting anyone
to helps, Apparently the mechanic was willing enough but he was
afraid to do anything without the foremans':0.K. but the big louie
wasn't around as usuals, Finally after much wrangling & truck ceme
by and the kid agreed to give me & push. I finally got back to the
office and worked until 12 wiiting up my cases.

Lunch was lousy. I prepered my speech for tomorrow. I went to
gee Frank and discussed what Tsukamoto might say. I feli a littile
apprehensive, somewhat like I felt before big debates--eppecially
against Stanford and U.5.C.

After supper Hide gave me a haircut. I went homwe a built a big
fire and read "good Earth." Connie, lirs. lurayama, Keikoy Naj
and the Miyamotos came. We talked about the Nisei and then about
scientific method. We got #nto a long involved arguement im which
Comnie ard Framk continued to take pot shots at each other. Frank
maintained that there were sertain demands that men heve as members -
of society. Connie was arguing that his was en erbitrary standard
from which he had mo right to make an absolute judgment. We then
talked about coops, and finally citizemship of the Nisei. We broke
up at 12.

I worked on my speech more. This was the first time I had
prepared a speech so carefully in years. It was the chance I had
‘been waiting for. Tsukeamoto had thus far refused to speak before an
gudience and haed wlways talked behind my back, but now was mp chance
to get him in the open where we would have an equal chance. I could
not afford to slip and I had every intention and making him look
plenty sick tomorrow.




October 4, 1942

I got up atlll and clesmed up. I put the finel touches on my
speech. Lunch was terrible. Nej came in after lunch emnd easid that
he would mot help. Tom Okabe rushed over to say that 0'Brien the
new director of the National Student Relocation Council was here and
wanted to speak to me. We went over there and the Hisatomis and Naj
all gathered at the Miyemotos.

I 1:30y the appointed time, we all went over to the platform.
It was hot as hell. Finally after a lot of delay we got started.
Herry lMayeda, the moderator, madeca mistake and put me before Tsu-
kamoto when & lot of my speech wes dependent on what he said. He
thought thet be could help me by putting me first, but he really
made me mad as hell with hies laet minute change. I blasted awey
at the JeA.C.Ls because I couldn't take any chances on what Tsu~
kamoto would say. Tsukamoto came back with insinuetions and personal
commente because he could not answer my challenges. However, he did
make a good impression with his personsl remarks. Fergusson and
Shirrell gave good speeches. I was griped because Tsukemoto had
done nothing bur rouse the rabble. Both Walt and I were disgusted
with the small gathering since it wes e good indication of the faet
that most Nisei in the camp didn't give a dsmn what heppened to their
citizenship. Welt kept & smiling face, but he seemed plenty mad
inside. He seemed more like a erucified leader who was out to make
his final eppesl to the people. I would have felt sorry for him

if he had used more honorable means for persuading the people.

After the show, we went to the canteen and had pop. We then went
to the Miyamotos end telked the whole thing over. Frenk snd Harmo
epologized for not brimging questions up which would have given me
an even apportunity at getting back at Tsukamoto end sinking him for
good, but Bheir apologies didn't mean much bocause it was too late.

At supper the food wae lousy. We went home without eating.
I wes very discourgged with the Nisei and espeeially the group that
Naj had gathered. Lveryone wanted to get something done and when
the opportunity came they all sat back end dumped the burden on me.
L wouldn't mind even taking & beating if I had some semblence of
support but I didn't get any from people that I knew demn well agreed
with what I had said,

Tomi came home and made some soup, salad, and sandwidches. We
loafed eround until 8:30 and then went to the concert. We came back
with the liiyamotos and Hisatomis. We talked about farm life end
learned about KayIs life on the farm before evacuation. He seemed
to be quite a fellow because he got up from the bottom and was foreman
after a few yyars of work.




Oetober 5, 1942

I got up at 10130 and rushed to the office. There was a big
mixup there. Mrs. Halle had suddenly changed her mind after all the
talking she had done and had decided that only those who were un=-
employable were eligible for grants. This was contrary to the WRA
policy and there was much confusiom. ©5She said that unemployment
compensation was not being paid yet but that wae tough and not the
worry of her department. A new guy=--llorimune--came on today. He
wae a very nice Kibei fellow bui not too impressive. I got a ride
home at noon from irs. Halle.

Lungh was lousy agein. I went back to work and saw Deki. She
was utterly disgusted with the cemp. I worked all afternoon typing
up records. It was hot as hell and Koso and Shibhad ceme in sugges-
ting that we go to the canteen. We all got a soda and telked for a
while on the Planning Board.

I got back and talked to Imazeki for & while in the shhde by his
office. I learned a little about his background. He was formerly
working with the Hoku~bel Asshi and then went over to the Shin-Se Kai
staff after the big Nichi Bei strike. He had alwo gonme to echool
in Uissouri to study journelism. I was just getiing to some interesting
points when Mae called me back saying that there was someone to see
MEe

Supper was terrible. After eating I wrote some letters.. Naj
camé in to talk about Ruseian and about learning the language.
We started telking sbout the camp life and I learned that there was
a new construction e¢rew strike on. He brought some coffee over.
Tomi came bock and we ate some sandwidehes. Just when we finished
eating there was a knock on the door.

Mr. Bhidisdell came in with HMiss Light and Mies Herwin. We talked
about things in gemeral and learned af the whereabouts and the doings
of Mich and Anne and Charlie. We talked about the article in the
Harpers by a Naval Intelligence office and he said that this man
had probably done more for the fair treatment of Jppanese in thecenters
than any other one man. Dr. Blaisdell also said that there were a
number of Army men who were anxious to use very excuse to make this
place a concentration camp. He also added that he suspected that
Leighton in Poston was trying to prepare people to use for adminis-
tration of conquered lands in Asim. He said that there were skunks
in the WRA office who spoke in a tone that was not conducive to good
relationships between coloniste and the administratiom. He advised
all of us to get out as soon as possible and stay out. He felt that
we ought to get jobs-~-any job and stay out before the gatee are closed
o6 UB. '

They left at 11 and Naj stayed until 11:30. We talked over what
Dr. Blaisdell had said and wondered what it wes all about.




Detober 6, 1942

I got up at 11 and prepared my leeture. Lunch was fair.

I went to work in the afternoom. I interviewed for a while and
then went over to telk to Koso and Fumi. I ran into e guy from the
Student Relocation Couneil and had to go to teachers quorters with him.
I saw his wife and Mise Jean lickay. I was very bored by the whole
thing. These keto who come in act as though we had nothing interesting
to do. I knmew that they were swell people trying to help but in
e way resernted their horning in.

Before coming home I argued with Miss Kerwin about the camp.
She tried to tell me that the people in the cemp ought to be thenk-
ful that they are not outisde because everyone on the oulside is
meking a greater sacrifice tham the people ineide. I told her theat
éverything that she said was true but that still didn't mean that
the people here ad to be thankful since they were foreibly moved
and were forced to give up their living for no reason at all. Fur-
therfiore if we were outside we would understand the situstion and
would in ell probability gradly produce what ever was necessary for
defense. '

Supper was terrible. I went to the Council meeting with Framk
and couldn't help but smelling a dirty plot for control when Taketa
read certein parts of the coming city charter. It looked dirty.

. October 7, 1942

T got up to go to work at 8. It was routine work until 1ll. I
then wert to the ad. building eand saw Jim and Frank there. - DeSe
and W.I. came in end we talked for a while before lunch. Ve agreed
to0 discuss matters later.

Weley DeSe and Spencer came over to the Miysmotes. I sel around
at the bull session in which we didn't accomplish much until 4 and
then went back to work. There wasn't much doinge I talked to Deki
and irs. Mureyama for a while end then went back to the Miyamotos.

After supper I had to go to class. I went to the Miyamotos with
the Hisatomis. Everyone was still there. Bob Billigmeier came in
with soms chow mein and created & minor furer. At 9140 everyone
hed to leave but we stayed with the Hisatomis and liiysmotos and talked
for a while about the J.A.C.L.




October 8, 1942

I got up at 9150 end wemt over to the Miyamotos. Bob was there already.
DeSey Weley and Spencer ceme later. We talked about stenographic help
for some time==in fact, until lumch. :

After lunch we talked about the study some more. Jim made be
go damn mad that I felt like either socking him or resigning from
the study. He said that the whole study was in the dog-house with
the legal aid department which was controlled by Walter Tsukamoto.
He said that "Teukemoto doesm't like certain college graduates who
go around talking as if they know everything." His remark reminded
me of his psychoanalysis of me of several years back when he said
that I was very snobbish and acted as though I knew everything. He
aepparently was trying to thoow the whole blame for the split with
ecertain councilmen entirely on me and he chose to do it at a time
when Dr. Thomas was here end when I was defenselpss. He entirely
ignored tha faet that he himself had irritated Tsukemoto by snooping
around the legal aid office a couple of weeks ago. He ignored the
fact that Walt and I were good friends personally and were at least
on speaking tems with each other. Hell, Walt gave me hell just the
other day for Jim's snooping around end asking questions in a blunt
manner in his office. I knew that I was partly te fault for the
mess, perhaps largely at fault, but I didn't like the diriy tacties
that Jim used. I resentdd it very highly end was so mad that I
shut up for a while. ;

I got & wire from pop saying thet he would arrive tomorrow.
We held another conferenee at which we discussed the ouiline. D.S.
and W,I. were very pleased. I was glad that someone was happyy
because I was getting pretty fed up with this whole things I won-
dered if I could resign and do something else. Perhaps I could go
to soms other center and work there instead of staying here. Then,
on second thought, I would probably be discontented there too, but
at least I wouldn't have to put up with Jim.

I went home for a while and found anote from Mrs. lMurayama
saying that Connie waes leaving tommorrow. I rushed to the welfare
office to find her but she wasn't there. I brought Blumenthal's Small
Town Stufff down to Dekli sinece she wanted to read it. I saw Koso,
Fumi end Elberson and we discussed camp politics. I walked home with
Don and we stopped to talk with Naj. Elberson kidded him and Naj
went right beck at him. ;

We then went over to the Miyamotos and found that conflict had
broken out. Michi was made at Kam for inviting others to chow mein,
and it was finally decided te eplit the party. We went home and the
Hisatomis, the Miyamotos, Naj, Mae and the Billigmeiers came over 1o
eat chow mein. Tomi, Naj, Keiki, Kay and I dropped over to the lura-
yamas for a while to say good bye to Connie and them returned. Ve
came back and found that the wine was there. We didn't worry about
being caught with contrabend end most of the people drank a little.

Everyone left at 11. We cleaned up and prepared the extra room
for mom mmd pop.




October 9, 1942

I got upt at 9. Keiko came over to help clean up the house. I
went to work and handled a few cmsess I then rushed to the ad. buil-
ding and found Toml and Keiko there and the bus parked but no mom
and pops We saw Connie off. lirs. lurayama seemed very pleased now
that the whole thing had been setiled once amnd for all.

For lunch we ate the rest of the chow mein with the iliyamotos
and ¥eiko. I had to go back to worke I came home at 3 and found
Keiko esitting there alone, She said that my parents had arrived
end were at the hospital for a check up.

We sat around for a while and they were brought home by lr.
Smith. Uother sesmed to have lost a lot of weight and aged; pop
soemed to be in good spirits although he Yoo seemed to have lost
plenty of weight. We ate and talked.

Judging from what they said Stockton Assembly Center must have
been hell. They were very favorably impressed with ithis camp and
said that it was roomy and quiet. They looked at the firtex walls,
the double floors and the other iiems around the place and were
very happy to be here.

Supper was terrible.

: I prepared my leecture hurriedly and rushed to class. After
a rather dull meeting the Hisatomis ceme home with me to pay their
regards to mom and pop. We all took a shower, had some tea and
went to bed early.




October 10, 1942

I got up at 10 and went over to the canteen with pop to order a
chest of drawers for him and mother. We talked about Tule Lake when
we got backe. Both were very impressed by the immense sise of the place.
‘hey said thet the place was quiet compared with Stockton. It reined
and was windy as hell today, btut they didn t seem to mind.

At the very lousy lunch they were impressed by the "cleanliness"
of the place,; the plemtiful food and the fresh vegetables. Ve wondered
what kind of the mees they had to go through in Stockton because this
place is just mext to filthye. :

When we got back, Michi and the Billigmeiers came in. Bob and
Hanny brought over sowe cacti for Tomi. Tomi and iichi went to wash
their hair with Keiko and I stayed howe and wrote letters all afternoon.

We had to rum to supper in pouring rain. We talked for a while
and then I worked on a conceptual outline for the sesction om social
disorganization. I filled out a Sears Roebuck order since mom and
pop wanted so many new things and I ordered a brief case which they
siad they would give me for a present. Since my old ere was falling
apart I took them up on their offer.

Both were very happy over the fact thai they didn't have to go

through inspection sgain and because they didn't have any lights out.
We talked until 11320 while Tomi iromed. I locked over some of uy
notes for a while and then decided to call it a day.




October 11, 1942

I got up at 10 and went to wash up. In the cen I met a fellow
who worked in the mess hall and he told me that there was going to be
a general strike and that breakfast would not be served until 9 to-
morrow. He felt thet the WRA could not be trusted and it was about
time the Japanese showed them that they could not be cheated by a
bunch of cheap keto grafters. "They ghink they got us by the balls,
but we'll show ‘em." HKe sald that the food that we were getiing weas
worth about $.23 a d y. He said that lately since Pilcher was sich
and since Cooke took over temporerily the food has improved. He
added that the farm, conetruction and other cres would go on a sym
pathetic strike.

I walked over to the canteen but no sundey papaer yet. I stopped
on the way howe at the liyamotos and told them the mews about the
girike. They had just gotten up and were having breskfast end they
gave me some. It was zwell.

I got back in time for a terrible lunch. I walked over to the
canteen to buy some cigarettes and them went to see the liyumotos
again. We talked about the camp until 3130 and then weni home.

There were some visitors seeing mom and pop. I worked all aftermoom
on an outline on social disorganisation end then tore the whole thing
ups We had some soup because we were so hungry hot haviug eaten the
foul foode -

At a lousy supper, & man ennounced the mess strike. Ile said that
the colonists were fimally to have it out with the keto. He said that
to meke sure that no one wae going to work, breskfast would be served
at 8330 and lunch at an unannounced time. "Please comwe when ithe bell
rings."

I worked on my outline for a while and then walked to the concert
with Tomi in freesing cold weather. Ve came home with the liyamoios
and the Hisatomis. We ate some hash sandwidches and had tea that
Michi made. We heard of meore troubles om the faram from Kay. Appa-
rently the men were still dissatisfied.




October 12, 1942

Breakfast was not served until 8:30 today but that didn't bother
my routine much since I didn't get up umtil 10 amyway. I dashed off
to work and had plenty to do. I had to work umtil 12:15 to finish up.

I talked to Koso for a while end learned of an Issei meeting
last nighte It was acparently over the theaire issue and the issei
wanted to take up the matter of voice in the councilse A few agitators
showed up but Koso said that the level-headed men just quieted them
down and took over the meeting. Kosos fell very encouraged and said
that these were the wen who could be counited on to keep the camp
from going to the dogs.

I went home end we bad to wail and waite Lunch was not served
until 1:30s I noticed that Jacoby's secretary didn't think the lousy
lunch was worth waiting for and went baeck Vo work early without eating.

I couldn't get to the office until 2:30 end worked umiil 5:30.
I got home only to find thaet supper wus all over. They had served
suppera t 4340 to punish the people who had gome to worke Touwi said
the food was lousy enyway but the principle of the thing griped we.
Nej came over. He was mad as hell too. Tomi made some soup and salad
end wenies for us and we cooled off. Naj couldn't see why the strike
was continuing since Pilcher had resigned last Salurday.

I read Iime and the Good Farth for a while and then had a dis-
cussion with pop about the Japs in this camp. He said that the basic
attitudes of the Issei were unchanged. He said thal any changes were
only camouflage for the real acquisitive attitudes thatl have always
been present. He said that the Issei came here 1o meke money and
they still have a lust for money. He commented on the sirikes here
end said that he doubted if the beet~field workere in Idaho would
strike. He felt that the kids who were brought in this camp would
be at a handicap since they were lemrning that those who did not
grab first would lose. He felt that that iype of attitude would not
be conducive io civilized léving.




Ooctober 13, 1942

We had breskfast at 8340 today. I went to work but since there
wasn't much to do I read the Polish Peasent in the office. Neoko
wanted to know about some criptic term for evacuation sales. I didn't
know of any and wert to see Elberson. I found him autside with
Koso and learned from them what the strike was all about.

The mess hhll workers were demanding (1) Pay, (2) clothes,
(3) dismissal of Pilcher, and (4) $.45 a day for food. While we
were telking Elberson said that Pilcher had resigned but Shirrell
was reluctant to accept the resignation.

Helle came so0 I had to return. She said that emple food was
being duréed supplied tut that the agitators and the Jepanese cooks
were burying it now thet they kmew that gerbage cens were being in-
specieds Che said that there were just a few imdividuals at fault
and said thet they would be removeds Che asked me if I kmew of any,
I sald Yo and she replied cynically, “Ob you won't talk either, huh?
If some of our loyal Americans would cooperaie a little more we could
run thie cemp decently. As it is what more could we do?"

Lunch was served at 1340, I walked over to the Pest Office to
goet & packages It was a mess with the freight all over the room.
Now thet freight amd parcel post headquarters were iogether the place
was really a meses and I couldn't see how they could handle mail
on time. Pop wes disgusted at the stupidity of the clerk there. Ie
chaimed that ehe couldn't count.

I went over to 1608 and talked {o Koso and Bobs I then went to
wy . boeth and reed the Polish Pemsamt. I welked home with lrs. Mura=
yema and et home looked over the stuff I got from Tolan.

We had a decent supper for a changes Hamburger! Ve had forwerly
loocked upon hamburger as slopy but now it was a feast. Tomi and I
wert over to the lliyamoteos for e minute and I was plamnning to go home
to work, but stayed. Frank wemt to khe Council meeting. MNaj took
some thinge over to Bob. /e came back before long end we all had
coffee. Before long, Frenk cewe back and told us what happened at
the Council meeting. le said that Teukemoto had threatemed to resign
because Susuki had squealed on him to the Issei. He said that Shirrell
had warned of the dangers of this turning into en internment camp.

Three people cawe at three differemt times to notifyius that the
mess strike was over and selileds Ve went home at 1ll.




October 14, 1942

I got up et 7140 and went to work. Halle was sick and iiss
Hoshino wae not there. We all sat around. Everybody was griped as
hell and many of thinking ebout quitting.

Lunch was lousy. After lumch I reported at 4407-D and handled
four cases. I went back to the office in the rain. Bob and Jim came
in and Bob invited both of us to his place at Saturdey night. I
didn't went to take a chance on clashing with Jim so I declineds I
then wrote up my records un the cases until 14:30. I went howe atl
five and worked on my lecture outline.

ve had fish for supper. I worked on my lecture more and rushed
to class. The band had taken over the room and we had to go to the
laundry rooms It was cold and stinky with tsukemono. After Bdass,
we wenit home and ordered some things from VWerd and ate and talked.




October 15, 1942

I got up at 7130 end rushed to work. lirs. Halle was still sick.
I read the Polish Pessant and was studying when news came to the office
that we had to get our clothes at oncep-before noon or else no more
would be issued. The stenos pounded out the requisitions and the
girls floundered around while the taxi driver impotienily waited for
then to make up their minds. They went ahead and lorimune and myself
sat around. Some of them came back and told us to go lo the warehouse
and we went in the taxi about 11:15. The driver was mad as hell
ebout something and just let us off without telling us enything. Ve
went to 319 where they were issuing clothing and they kicked us out
saying that there was no requisition for amybody. <hey teld us to go
to the office to see about our requsiitons so we did. The office girl
giad that our requisitioms should be at 319 so we went backe It was
81111 11:20 but the place was now padlocked end everyone had gone home.
I was mad as hell and we walked back to the oifice together. When
we got there we learned that only womenSs clothes were being issued
today. I wrote up a few cases and wenl houwe.

Lunch was terridle. I hac to rush over to 3407-D and had to tahe
one case after another. The liitle secretary there gol a jackel issued
to her--size 42! The block manager there was a swell guy and he helped
me interview the old men. Afier the massacre I weni over to the shoe
shop and got my shoes. They old chirged me j.85! I walked back to
the office and learned that in all probability urs. Halle would leave
the project to recover her heelihe

Since she was going, she might have let well emough alone, but
Halle douldn't do thats She left orders with Naoko to fire a few of
the workers--including lrs. luraysua and myself. When Urs. lurayaua
sew the mote, she burned up and resigned. OShe had pateintly stuck with
pocial welfare in epiie of everything and this was the lass straw.
Naokeo and I talked over the thing for a while and we planned 1o see
Mr. Fleming tomorrow to ask that no ome else tuke over uniil we {inibh
cleaning up the mess that Lirs. Hdlle left.

Supper was terrible again. What the hell wus the strike for any-
way? I sat around for & while and the Hisaiomis, the iiyamotos, and
Nej ceme in for a birthday pariy. After the exchange of gifts and
the food, we started talking about the cemp es usual. Ve discussed
Shirrell's thheat to mske this plece a concentration camp. We were
all disgusted with the Jeps on the farm end ebout all the sirikes.

Nej eaid that people were irying to tie Shirrell up with Pilcher and
Peck in the grafi. Kay seid that rumors have it that Shirrell said
that he hoped the agitators would go to Jepan and be shot down by
American bullets. After talking about the troubles in the ceamp, Frank
and Yichi revealed that they planmnmed to leave early im Februmry. laj
was saying that people judt didn't realize how lousy it is to live
here. Omly Keiko seemed obliviously contented, bul even Kay was
concerned.




Qctober 16, 1942

I got up at 9:30 and went to work. I went with Naoko, lrs.
Akamatsu and Mrs. Hashiguchi to the ad. building to see Fleming.
He was out so we talked to Jacoby and explained our problems io him.
We saw lirs., Falle leave. She was in fairly good spirite. I left
the girls with Jacoby and went over to Fleming's room for the conference
on high education, 1 went home with Frank.

Lunch was lousy. I meiled all the library books I had back at
the P,0. I went back to the office and found that Felming wes in
conference. I saw Irancis and abked her about the room that we had
been deprived of. She suggested that we go to a mess hall and when
I told her that Peck was not popular with the cooks, her reaction was
that if the chief cook didn't follow Peck's orders, then all that
hed to be done was to get a new chbbf cook. She said that the people
in the administration was getting eick end tired of the troubles
and that the agitators were going to be punished. It seemed to me
that the administration was trying to find a scepegoat for ite own
errors and the agithtors were it.

I returned to 1608 and filled in a requisition for furniiure,
The files were all messed up and we started the long tedious itaks of
straightening the whole damm thing out. Jusi ihen some guy came in
to ask if his family end two other families could go together when
they were moved to another center! After May explained to him that
we knew of no movement to any other center, he very shbepishly said
that his family was disturbed and wanted to meke sure that they would
be togehter with their friends when they moved. Of course, he didn't
believe that we were to be moved. ‘

Jacoby then came in and we talked about the disorganization in
the center. He said that he didn't think that things were too bad.
He said that Shirrell couldn't turn over the project to the Army éven
if he wented to. He said that that was decided by men higher up.

Deki came in and when she saw me she demanded an explaination
for the way thet Jim pumped her for informetion at the hospital. She
wae mad as hell and said that she couldn't see what Jim wanted in
uselese etatistics in the hospitel. ©5She ssid that such information
would be available at any time anyway.

I went over to the Dispateh office and put a notice in the ppper
that we were to close our office next week. I went home with liae
and both of us were pretiy griped at the Jape here.

We had fish for supper again. Hell! I prepared my lecture and rushed
to class. We held class in 4508 and got Yemane's office for next week.
He is reslly a wwell block menager. When we got home, we heard a whistle
end dashed out. There were & half dozen warden's searching with a
flashlight and finelly they caught a guy with lots of lumber in the
firebreak end made him carry it back. I looked over Polish Peasant and
read the Good Esrth. As I read of their starvation, I wondered what
we would go through after the war. Jacoby felt that if we suffer here,
we would get good treatment laterj but who could guarantee it?




October 17, 1942

I got up at 9330 and went to the warehouse to get my clothes.
I got & machinaw, breeches that didn't fit, a cap end e coet that
was too small. I tried them on snd found thaet the mackinaw was the
only thing that fit. Tomi said that the coal was lousy.

Lunch was fiar. I spent the afternoon typing wy noles.

Supper wae good for a change. I went to see Frank emnd when I
aaw a copy of the charter I got mad as hell. I gave the council the
right to investigate amy individual and examine ell his records. I
went home and typed my notes. Naj came in end said that he was dis-
gusted with camp life and wae planning to leave. He said that he
wanted to leave but didn't vant to esk a fevor of Dr. Thomas because
he didn't want to be obligated to her er anyone else. We broke up
at 11 after talking ebout the fact thet & swell novel could be wriitem
on this placd.

October 16, 1942

Today was a beautifil Sunday. Ve got up late end loafed.

Lunch was swell for a change. I wemi to warehouse 351 to get
our clothing seripte I waited in line from 12330 to 1335 and finally
got my $7.50. We went to get the Sunday peper and stopped at the
liiyemotos to read the fumnniess Franmk felt itehy to do something
so we looked all over for a football. We couldn't find any so
we borrowed a ball amnd two gloves and played catchs

Supper was fair. I read Jood Egrth uniil 8330 and weni to the
concerte I helped Framk and Kay clean up afterwards and we ell went
home together. Toml cooked and we all ate and shot the breege.




October 19, 1942

I got up et 7:40 and rushed teo work. lae was mad because lir.
Yamageki cussed at her about the mizup about cloihes. Ve all worked
like hell clesning up the mess that Halle left until lunche We found
requisitions that hadn't been sent in; we found menial cases that
hadn't been ireated since July. Her neglest was simply criminal.

Lunch was fair. I went out to 4407-D and todk some applications.
I went bueck to the office and helped the girls until 4:30. I went
home. There was plenty of mail today so I looked over the stuff
until supper.

Supper was lousy. I saw Frank for a minute and then went home
end worked on my records. I read Good Larth after 11, and then we
had some soup and tekked about the theatre feting mess. Inblock
44, I had noticed that liasegawa was arguing with an Issei who was
trying to east his son's vote. In block 5, ilichi suid that a group
of Issei had picketed the ballot to make sure the Nisel foted their
waye

Qetober 20, 1942

I got up at 9120 and rushed to works I walked with lirs. Akamatsu
to the Iwasaki ocesse. lirs. Akamatus was afraid to go aloug because
someone had threatened to kiddl someone else. Ve caue back and looked
through the files but couldn't find amyihing.

Lunch was only fair, I went out to 3407~D to take applicatiocns
for grants. One guy came in. I wolked over to the radio shop and
the man there said that no tubes were available for the duration which
were of a size to fit my radio--ergo my radio was out for the duration
unless I could find one somewhere.

I walked to the P.0. to pick up a package and got our clock, a
brief case and the books. I went back to work and coied stuff from
the files until 5340 and was late to supper.

After suppery I typed my records end worked on ihe documenis
until 11:30. I got tired end sleepys I couldn't help but moiiecing
how much ahppier I fell when I was working.




October 21, 1942

I got up at 7180 and rushed to work. Ve spent the morning cleaning
up everything in the files.

Lunch was only fair. I went over to see Ilbbming. I saw him
about Student Relocation and aboul teaching in higher education. I
got some raquisitions Ckeyed for welfare.

When I got back I copied records. About 4, I weni over 1o see
Frank and then went home to work on my lecture for tonight.

We had a terrible supper. I took a shower and them weni to class.
Aftern class we weni over to the Hisatomis for a bull session. We
Bearned about Kay and Keiko's feelings when they first came here.

We broke up at 12 and ae we were walking home in the freesing cold,
Yiss Light told me about kide singing, "Sirumming on the old Banjo,"
thinking "banjo" meant toilet.

October 22, 1942

I got up at 10:30 and went after the mail. Tomi went after a
packege at the P.0s Lunch was fair.

I went to work mt 1:15 and worked until 3:30. Koso and I then
walked over to the centeen. We were bored with nothing to do ®o0 I
went home. I read the American Journal of Sociology and the American

"Sociologicel Review whic h ceme recentlys I then read the Good Larth

until suppers

Supper was pretty goode I worked on documenis for a while and
at 10:30 decided to call it quits. Ve had some sandwidches end tea.




October 23, 1942

Vie got up at 9:30 and I had to go to work at 10s I copied records
all morning.

Lunch was fterribles I saw Fhdming and talked to Bob and a man
from lManganar coop. He said that they have passed the disorgenization
stage that we are undergoing heres

I went back to 1608 om a cab and loafed around. I talked to Naoko
and learned that the P.A, grant womey was fimally in. I came home
early and found that several books had errived and looked over them.

We had fish for supper againe I prepared my lecture while Tomi
prepared foeds 23 people came to elass. We talked about democracy
and the Nisei and had a long seesion until 11:80. We were eating when
the pyrex coffee pot broke. Tomi said she was going to demand another one.

October 24, 1942

I got up at 10:30 end got a letter from Enbree asking permission
to use my material. I went to the P.0e¢ to send a nole to DeSeTe
I heppencd to see Bob who was going to Remo with some teschers. On
the way home I talked to Frank. We agreed thet greduslly the screws
were being tightend on the study by the WRA and by the peopple.

Lunch was lousy. When I got home, Mr. Sato came over and voci=
feriously demanded to know why he didn't gei a notice to get a grant
like Mr. Kuroda did. e seid that he would ghldly quit work to get
it 4if the faoct that he was working was holding up his grant. I felt
irked at him for his attitude and felt like bawling him out. I also
flet irked over Morimune's failing to notifyi dr. Sato of his status.
iorimune worke hard end means well but is awfully slow.

I typed Records.all afterncom. Mey Quye came in to see Tomi
about e meeting tonight. Jim czwe in to talk about thinge in gemeral.
He said that he didn't want to siugly the femily because he couldn't
get "as much" detaw~as he would if he covered a couple of meetings a
week. He seemed very glad whem I said thet I might reeign from the
study. I wae glad when he left.

Supper was lousy. I typed my records until 10330. I finished
reading the Cood Earih and had some tea with Tomi.




October 25, 1942

I got up at 10:30 and cleaned up. Lunch was terrible. It was
friend fish that stunk like hell. Fish on Sundays too! We went home
without even looking at the stuff and cooked some cormed beef and corn.

After ealing we went io the centeen for the paper. It wes still
closed and a long lime of people were still waitings Kids were playing
football in the firebreak. Frank came along and we decided to let
ihe peper go Tor the time being. Om tiw wey home he decided to go om
e hike and I went ito get mcther end Tomi who wanted to go anyway.

Frenk got lichi and Mae and we took food and got started allittle
before 3.

We left our prison for ihe first time whem we left the project
erea. Ve fell very funny standing om the highway since it seemed
so foreign after all this time. I was a long climb but not oo hard.
Tomi and I got to the top of the hill first. It was very nice. Ve
sav the lake for the firet time and ithe huge fields of hay all arocund
the projeet. Mother held up quite well=-better than Michi or iae.
There were plenty of people on the top~-all eating. The caup looked
big from there. We started back mbout 4 and got back to cam p bg
5.

iom end Tomi went lo tuke a shower as soon us they got pack, but
I had to clean my choes. Supper was good but the lajimas grabbed
00 much end we didn't get very much. Toml was wed at them for soue
time and almost told Mr. Higuehi off,

We came home and read the fumnies and then icok a shower. I
read Folsih Peasani. Naj came in and we wuzited for ihe Himatomis.
Since ihey didn't come on time, we left for the comcert, We found
them elready there. We all went back to the Miyamoios and read tneir
funnies and ate and tulled until 12,




October 26, 1942

I got up at 8430 and ruehed to work. A number of Issei who had
grants comming to them were already waiting to be paids lo keto was
there to pay thems ©;30=--still no keto. That demn son of & bitche=
meking these old people stend in line in the cold. Ve called up the
ad. building and found out that the bustard wesn't even there yet.
Ve told the old people to come back at 2 in the afternoou. Pretty
soon, kr. Fleming came in and he was burning med. He said thet Eome~
one in the administration had teken a irip over the week-end and had
used part of the money that was to go the the payment of public eesie-
tance grants and there wasn't enough. YNow the men clained that he
had to heve authoriziation to pay granits, but Flewing fB3t that he
had no euthorigetion to psy the Ceucesisms who wanted to take & irip.
lie wae reelly mad end eaid that he would see to it that grants were
paid that afternocon.

Lunch wee terrible. It rained a little, I welked out to 44 but
had very little businese. Obayashi came in and we welked back to the
office together. Eome Issei were elready weiting to be paid. The
keto with the money finally came end paide We had to go ith the ware=
house to get Sumic Miysmoto to come to collect the nomey that the
canteer had advanced to the people in credit. The poor cld people
got their momey for grants and had to pay it right back to the can-
teen,

I telked to Roy Higashi and Frank fijikata. Roy wanied me to
make & epeech end Franmk wanted to know sboui going to William Jewell
“ollege. FEoy said that the YBA overthrew the reverends and were on
their own feet with Americanized Buddhiesm,

I hed to run home in the rein. T got a letter from D.S. with
a 1list of books of the Chicago Book Plune. I saw Frank to ask him
if he wented any and he said that he would subscribe himself, I
ordered three,

Supper was feir., It rained liké hell as we ran home.

I worked on my records until 10:30 end them read "Native Som"
until midnight. It was one of the best novels I have read in yeurs,




Oectober 27, 1942

I got up at 10130 ernd got my mail and dashed to work. It was
reelly cold today. There wasn't much to do so we took it easy in
the morning.

Iunch wee fair. Ve had slight amount of smow. I walked through
the cold all the way out to 34 for grant cases. There wasn't much
doing out there so I read the Plish Peasant until 3. No ore came in
80 I walked back to the office. The wind had risen and it was icy
cold. Even my mackinaw could not keep me decently warm. I worked
until 5 cleering up my cases, end then walked home with lir. Obayashi.

Supper wes pretiy good but Hide grabbed all the weat. After
supper I worked on my records until 9130 end then took it easy. I
read & chapter out of Kitt @y which wesn't much and then read
Vative Son. It seems to be really something. I was impressed by
Wright'e ability to portray the feelings of his characlers. The
feelinge of the MNegro eeem very much like those of the VFisei. Only
recently I recell feeling the same way myself.

October 28, 1942

I got up at 10 end rushed to works I read Native Son in the
offies sirce there waen't much to do.'

Ve had etew for lumch agein. I then walked over to 44 but there
‘was no business. I read until 23130 and then went back to the office.
We were pretty busy finishing up the cases and with students who came
in with questions on student relocation., I was relaxing and reading
when Jim came in. When Naoko leerned of the meeting to be held in
the office tonight she demanded that everything be cleaned up. When
she learned that Jim wee on the committee, she demanded thet the files
be lockeds The office was eleamer them it had been for months. Just
before we broke up, Morimune remarked that Nisel would be drafted. He
sald thatifasacke had wired to that effect. It seemed to me thal the
issue wast: are we citigens or aren't we? If we are, we ought to be
drafted and also be allowed to get out without red tape from this campj
if not, then we should do the opposite.

Supper was terrible-~left~over fish. We went home and had some
Kraeft dimmer. The thought of draft came to my mind end I determined to
get my work for DST cleared up so that I could leave without a lot of
work piled up for the last moment. I plamned to etudy like hell here
and in the Army since I couldn't be in combal duty emywasy. At 7 I
found that it was too late for me to go to the conference with Caleb
Foote ae I had rromised Deki. At 7330 I went to the Student Relocation
Copneil meeting. lNine came and we setiled (1) disposal of catalogs,
(2( 1ist of addressesy, amd (3) procedures. I went over to the Hisa-
tomis at 9330, Tomi and the Miyemotos were there. Ve talked about
wardens and the queer ducks in camp.




October 30, 1942

I got up at 10:30 but stayed home because I was very tired.
I read Hative Sonm until lunch, which was lousy. I got a notice of
tebegran and rushed over to the administration building. It was from
the Student Relocation Council and it seid that Beale was coming and
wantes a meeting. It was all very indefinite.

I rushed back to the office end got the Dispatch te put the notice
in ewen though they had to blet out something else. Bob Ota egreed
to inform the block menagers by phome if there was to be a meeting
since tomorrow was a busy day end all communications would be out of
order other than phone. T went down the ad. bullding to see Peck
about a mess hall but he wasn't there. I then rem over to the school
te look for iliss McKay. I looked all over hell and had several of
the teachers helping me. Finally I gave up in disgust emd ghone in
to the welfare office and found out thet she was there waiting for me.
The wire to her had been equally vegue. We were both mad as hell,
God, people must think this is a small community where things cem be
done overnight. I went over to see the chief cook at mess 13 end finelly
got hie consent to let us use his mees hall for & meeting Sunday cfter
talking to the Head Weitress. I went to see Harry lMayeda and he
agreed to meke the announcements tomorrow at the festival.

I got home and found & copy of a wire that Shirrell had received
from Bemle. That wire siad that they wanted to meet with the Tule
Lake committee and didn't say amything ebout a genersl meeting. What
the hell is this anyway?

Ve ete et home since this wae fish dey and we knew damn well
whet wae being served. Wichi and Frexk ceme over and sald thet they
‘had to eee Miss Smoyer mbout records before the JACL meeting so I
asked them to see Miss McKay to see Beale to ask him definitely
whether he wenis a gereral meeting or not.

I then rushed over to see Nej but he waen't home. I went over
to 1920 to the JACL meeting. It was scheduled for T:30 but it didn't
start until elmost 8. liost of the 100 people there were men and most
of them were pretty old.

After a disgusting meeting I went home with Vej, Tomi, Frank,
 &and the Hisstomis. I felt that civili liberiies were noti privileges
to be begged for as Tgukemoto seid, bui were righte that belonged
to ue and ought to be demanded if they were taken eway. I was griped
about the whole thing.

At home we had some erackers, hot chocelate and read Time. I
read about the Army and Navy contemplating taking over collegea now
that 18 and 19-yeur olds were to be drafted end thought of the mess,
How in the heck can the war be won without technicians in social
stbéences ae well as in physical sciences. It seems that we are com-
mitting error after error and complacently cutting each others
throates while the enemy wes working to kill us all.




October 31, 1942

I got up at 7130 and washed. By the time I got back, NeKay,
Bealey RNhoades, and Scardigli were over. We talked over the Student
Relocation work. The main problem was keeping kide from giving a bad
impression after they got oute Apparently some of them had pulled
some stunte end had succeeded in gditing some colleges closed. Frank
came in and we discusced ths Chicago test case situation. By this
time the parade was forming amd I had to leave them.

I went up to 1608 to finish up some work thet I was supposed to
do yesterday afternmoon but couldn't because of the Relocation Couneil.
Mee and her mother came in and they kept me occupied until the parade
came bys It came by at 11 when it was supposed to have started at 9.
I was surprised st the Japanesy nature of it all. Dragoms like those
in Jeparese papades end all sorts of odd things were pressnted by the
Issei. I worked until noon.

We had stew for lunch again. They gave us esandwidches, rice cahes,
and apples for supper, eince today was Harvest Festiival dey end a
camp holiday. I read Native Son for a while and then went to the
music department concert with lother and Tomi. I was really swell.
Jim's sister and Michi were really first class.

We then wenl over Yo the carnival. They were selling ice cream,
freneh fries, end hawmburgers. The food stiands were full of jecple
and most of them had sold out. Booths had bingo, ball throwing (st
pegs and at e man's head), wheels (one from block four whih Shimbo
hoarse from shouting), flowers, pemny pitch, sketches, derts, fish
ponds, An entertainment and the raffle drawing wae going on on the
stage all the time. The dust wes terrific and all the performers
looked aged with their white hair. We went over to see the greased
pigs end watched a fellow catch it and collect 50 cents.

When we got home, the Hisatomis cume over and we talked ebout the
camp, I had to go to the ad. mess hall to ezt with the Council mem=
bers. Five of the Tule Lake comumitee members showed up--all except
the Secramento delegates. The Washington and Oregon delegates con-
dugted themselves like ladies and gentlemen, but I was surprised at
Jim. We had ice cream, potato salad, beef sandwidches. Jim grabed
a lot of sugar and got the glares and dirty remarks from the others.

I guess he did it unconsciously but it certainly burned up the Cau-
casians who had to scripp on the ocutside.

We all went over to 1608, Jim took over the discussion and dey
wanded to know which colleges were offering scholarships and he kept
harping on it even though Beale was reluctant to say shich colleges
for fear that there would be a deluge. Finally Jim left for the
dance. All the others stayed and we worked umvil 9:30. All separated
end I walked back with Nakagiri. We werw worried about those on the
outside getting the rest of the Nisei in duteh.

When I got home I found the Hisatomie there. Keiko deeided to go
home and just got her coat. Bob had said he wanted to tell us something
from DS so we left a message with Frenk and told Hej. He came over
and we ate the leftovers end talked about scientific method.




T got up at 10:30 and walked to the perscmmel recreaiion hall
to see Deale, He was talking to a dozen Nisei. I excused myself
and walked baeck just in time for lunch. It was a roast. After
lunch Tomi gave me a haricut. Frank and Michi came over and we
decided to go the Billigmeiers together.

Ne] ceme slong and we ell walked over., He had said that he
had en important message from DET 8o we were sager to heaur something,
but all he hed wes a revieion of the outline of the structural report.
A1l of us were mad and disgusted because Frank and I had both planned
to type up some stuff this afternoon and Michi and Toul were mad
about some of the things that Jim hed said about the concerts laj
seemed 10 be bored and med on general principles. ¥ichi seid that
the only bright spot in the afiernoon was Nej's squelching of Jim
when he made an of f guard statement aboul stat, about which Jim knew
very little and Naj quite a bit.

we had some fish for supper which didn't add to the merriment.
We ate some sandwidches at howe and ilhen read the fumnies. Ve took
a shower and cleaned up and then wenti over to the concert. The molor
pool didn't send a truck as they were supposed o and Key and I hed
to carry Ted Tokuno's radio over to the block managers' office.

The MViyamotos, Naj, the Hisatomis, Towi and I walked home together
as we have for courntless Sundays by now. We stopped there at the
Yiyamotos, read the funules, dpank and ate, and talked about ell
kinds of things. Ve talked asbout the sugar beet-widows who fooled
around with all the available men--especially those of Dblocks 5
end 42. We then discussed music until 12330.




November 2, 1942

I got up at 2130 and went to the welfare office. I was pretiy
buey all morning with Student Relocation work. The interest in leaving
center is apparently pretty high.

The dey was windy as hell. The dust wes eo thike that one could
hardly see one bloeck shead. Obayashi and I had a hell of a tiuwe
getling home.

Lunch was lousy as usual.

I went out the the 44 office and had two interviews. I went backk
to the main office and cleaned up my work and cemeé home early. I
walked over te the P.0. to get the stat book that DS had sent and
telked to Deki there for a while. Cthe was anxious to do sowme work
for Dr. Thomae. I huad to wakk hom in a terrific wind and slight rein.

Eupper was terrible. Temi and I had to go to 1608 to get our
ballot notorized. We were suprised to see so many odl people there.
There were about fifty peopde etanding in the Civie Organigzations
office and Tsukamoto had to work like hell. Some of the late-comers,
eepecially the older ones shoved shead and got out socons There ware
many who hed o stand outside in the rain while those ineide were
milling arcund. A W.ReA. photographer came in and took some pictures
and everyone ducked to avoid having his face in the picture. Ve
asked him about his work and he seid that Tul e Lake wae one of the
besi projecte. Then we looked at him queetioningly, he said thal he
could say thet with all sincereity. It wae hard to believe.

After one hour of milling arcund we finally got e business over
with and got home. I typed a few letterc and was relaxing when lirs.
Jacoby dnme in and invited us over to & goose dimnner for tomorrow
eveing.

I typed wy notes until 11:15. It was still windy as hell.




November 3, 1942

I got up at 93130 and rushed to work., lae was mad because I
come late and someone had come in to ask for me. I worked like a
horse until noon.

We had stew ‘for lunch again.

T learned when we got back to the office thal e new guy named
Carter was supposed to give us some training in welfare worke. I
knew that we all needed it but wondered how we were golng to fit it
in when we were e damn busy. He is from Tulere and seemed like a
feirly decent guy, but he waen't goo impressive or didn't sirike me
as being too sharp or too intelligent.

We went out to 3407<D in a cub since it was such a cold and
rainy days I took two interviess. As I sat there gazing around the
block meneger's office I thought of the wonderful movel thetl could
be written about the place. The ery of the bay, the sound of the
kide rumning in the snow outeide and the wey the kids surrounded the
block manager's pretty secretary snd the things ihey talked about--
gll provided more meterial tham Steinbeck ever had. It woudl seem
a pity if et leest some mueie, or novel, or some piece of art could
not come out of this horrible experiance.

Iy hind wandered to the slowness 6 the work thel we were doing.
It didn't bother my conscience, but it irritated me. T knmow that I
loafed for a couple of months twt I also knew that I had been working
like hell ebout 10 hours = dey or more lately=--sometimes 15. None-
thelees the reports were coming very slowly and I had not written as
much as T should, It seemed that ome thing after another was coming
upe I thought of all the stuff the Jim was turning in. I knew that
some of it wes just bulk but I also knew that DST was very pleased
with what he turmed in, Maybe that'e whet she wenis, and I deteruined
that T should add more quentity to wg etuff.

T went back to the of fice and wrote up some of uy casess I talked
to ¥ay VNakegiri end Ryoko lafune for a while and them Eob ceme ine I
then tslked to Vecke for e while mbout recrganizing the department.

T cleaned up and changed and ther went over to the Jacoby's. Roast
goose! Dob and Ferny were there end we had a swell time. I almost
felt civilized. Ve had a tsblecloth, silverwere, clean dishes with
peiterns in thew, decent food, and decent end pleasant people to eat
withe It wee one of the very few emjoyeble meals we had for a long
time. FElbersor ceme in after a while and we talked about Lundberg's
gociology and how bed it was. He Blammed Stanford and its conservative
iradition end then left. We talked until 10345 end then left.

It wae really cold. We stopped at the Uiyamotos and talked about
Chicago. Ve got home and found some chow mein that mother kad gotten
from the mess hall for us. We ate that and then worked for a while
before turning in.




Vovember 4, 1942

I got up at 11:30 and wert to lunch. %e had a roast! I went
to work in the afternoon and everybody kidded me sboul 'bankers'
hours®'s There were plenty of questions on Student Relocation. I
had to work like hell all afternoon to make up for ithe morning I
missed. Nacko told me of the difficulties she had with lirs. Halle to
get me in. She said that Yrs. Halle refused to consider anyone with
a sociology major in espite of the fect that she wanted someore wiih
background in the field. She was so fearful of someone getting inte
the filee that she always locked her desk and kept the key. Naoko
said that she had herself tossed my application back into the list
of arplieants after falle had tossed it out and had ealled we in
hérself. T knew that Halle didn't want me there but didn't realize
how much I owed to Naoko and Deki for getting me in.

Jim eame in to tell us about his course. It sounded pretiy good.
He told Obayashi that he should Attend end I went on with my worke.
I got home about 5:30 and got mad beesuse there was so littile wmail.
Hell, the stuff was probably being held up at the P.0. because we
sometimes got stuff that chould heve arrived weecks age according to
the postmark. It shouldn't teke & letter two weeks to arrive frouw
Ean Francisco.

We hed fish for supper again and T wasn't feeling to happy so I
decided to write my draft board s nasty letter about ny 4-¢ clasei-

fication. I ssked them what the hell we were fighting this war for
if we were not ourselves even condidering democratie principlse. If
there were some impeding of the war effort by yfdemocratic procedures
then there might possibly be some justification, but when the undeme-
eratic messures impeded the war effort there was no excuse under ithe
sun. The whole thing made me mad as hell, :

I typed letters until ten to clear up everything for some work
on the study. I had some soup with Tomi snd then relaxsd end firnished
Netive Soms I thought that it wes ome of the finest novels I have
read in some time. Sometimes I feel exactly like Bigger felt. It
seeme that ell thie is a white man's world that we are living in and
othere don't have much of a chanece unlese they jump when the whitle
men eaye the word, After the evacuation, I couldn't help but become
more and more race conscious and antagoristic against keto. I couldnst
help but feel some antagonism even thoward the Christians workers
thet come in here. T know that they mear well but they seem to be so
blind and so weak. I had mever before thought of the race prroblem inm
the way thet I see it now beesuse I hed never been discriminated
against before in my life., I had heard about all kinds of dirtiy deals
but had never been rooked liks I was in this evacuation deal, It makes
we feel very resentful that a couple of bastarde like De Witt could
bave the power to make into reality what some fools with blind pre-
judices wanted. Of course, the whole thing is deeper than that, but
the whole future locke so black. I cen't see how some intelligent
people could go on 8o blindly without reieing e hand of protest other
than & few learned articles. It often makes me womder why I was
born in such an ere énd in such a place.




November 5, 1942

I got up at 10:30 and went off to work. We had elight day as
far as interviewing went so I wrote up some cases.

Lunch waen't so good.

I went beck and handled a few cases for P,A. Crente and then
schedules 30 interviews for next week for the recertification Sor
next monthe' grarts. Ti secemed silly to receriify for lovewber when
October had not yet been paid.

; I went over to eanteen #2 to talk to lergie Ite about Student
Reloeation. She cashed my check mnd I bought some ice cream for the

gang. I went back to look over a few records of mentsal csses thet

had been assigred to me. I couldn't meke heads or taile wiik them. .

Supper was feir for a change. The Inouye kid raised & big howl
there and amused evervone in the mess hall. Apparently hiés wother
had done something that he didn't like and he took it oul om her ey
yowling in the mess.

I rend Time for a while and thon typed my records sell evening.
I felt a little better because I was linelly setiling down to work.
T didn't turn in fmtil about 1.

November 6, 1942

I got up at 9330 and went 1o work. I spert the morning filling
out a questionnaire that I got from Washington--War Manpower Comnission.

Lunch wae lousy. T saw Frepk for a while and lcaerned that the
Cuije board had predicted that we should have seversl chiddrer. Uichi
wap disgusted because it revesled how prowJapan the Nisei were. I
heard the “Strumming on the old banjo" joke ageir in modified form;
it seems that all the teschers are using it 1o smuse the cblonists.

I wae busy &s hell a&ll afternoon isking inmterviess for grants. I got
my Septebmer pay of $19. !

Yhen I got home I eaw thet Tomi had her Sept. pay too and had
collected $10,50 from the laundryman for the lost shests. She was
Jubikant., We mailed the checks to the bank.

Supper was terrible. I typed my records until 11 and then read
Kitty Foyle. We ate some spaghetti and then went to wash. I noticed
that the water wee allowed to run to prevent the pipes from freezing.




November 7, 1942

I got up &t 8320 and rushed to the staff meeling. Carter was
fair but not too iupressive. le seewed like & nice guy. I spent the
morning checking over my own cases for Publlie Assisieance Crunts so
that I wouldn't mises enyone for November.

Tomi came over at 11 end we wenli 1o the no. 5 canteen to see if
they hed eny decent clothes on which to spend some scripis. They
didn't have much that we wanted although they did seem tc have every=-
thing else from overcoate to gloves. Ve walked home in the wind and
rain.

Lunch wae good but we got there a litile late awd Vaj's borther
had eaten most of its We went over to the Viysumotos and talked to
them for e while. Frark and I then went over to the 1608 office
together end he weat through some of the records. He loft early but

-

I steyed there end copied some of the records until suppers,

Supper wse pretiy good. Nej ceme over end we talked about the
irwmy. He was griped about the gutes of the bastards in asking for
volurteers after shoving us in & place like this. We talked adout
some of our friends and then had tea &nd then discussed books.

November 8, 1942

I got up at 10:30 and cleaned my hair and took a showers This
was the Tirel time &n quite m while that I had a chence t¢ do so. I
almost froze in the shower room because there is no heat there.

Lunch wae swell., I weni over io 1608 and spert the efternoocn
typing up souwe sirasy records that I hud misced yesiterday. Thie, along
with the stuff I had been copying for the past three wecks almost
completed my survey of the filess lost of the stuff was lousy but
a few good cases did come to light.s I emedled fish being cooked in
the adjoining mees hall sc didn't bother to go home for supper. Vhen

I got home I found thal Tomi wae already coocking something.

At 6 I suddenly remembered that I had to give a speech tonight
end prepared one franticelly. I chenged end rushed 1o 1420 for the
Y.BsA. meoting., I was surprised =t the tpemendous crowed and the very
beautiful and impressive ceremony of the Budchistise Ir the sermon
we learned of the meening of "Gassho®. I couldn't help but snickering
at the Chriiienizatiorn of the Buddhists. The rituel was terrific.

Tomi and I left early to go to the concert. Ve went home with
the Hisatomis and the liyamotoe but Keiko end Kay left early. The
four of us talked until 12:30 of the sex problems of Tule Lake. Ve
concluded that the Issei were worse than the Nisei.




lovember 9, 1943

I got up at 10:30 and took it emsy for a while at home. I read
folish Peasant for a while and then went to cleen up. Tomi came home
with the mail and I read what I got end then looked al Life.

After lunch I went to the office end found several kids interested
in Student Relocation waiting for me. They wanted-to know when they
could get oute I couldn’t help but wonderirg aboul some of them,

They had been dopes in school before lui now they are willing to do
almost anything to ge to school. Some of the Kibei fehlows seemed
very singere and T hoped that they could go, tut I didn't have much
sympethy for soms of the others.

I had to tecke interview after interview all afternmoon. About
4, & crisis hit the depariment. iir, Carter suddenly welked in and
announced that the ten typists who would do the clerical work for
the issusnce of cloihing ellowances would be brought tc work in the
welfare office. Nuoko was furious and nfter ghe had left she wus
mad @8 hells I suggested thot she cell TFleming and she did but Care
ter ansvered the phone emd eaid that there was no alternative, but
that Fleming was willing to change hie mind if we could suggest some
other place. The whole etafff got together for a pow-wow since no
clients were around, Ve agreed that we had to have privecy and it
wes bud enough to have Reve Cmsaki around to take repatriation.
Ve eleo agreed that Certer was 0,X, 80 long as he minded his own
business anéd stuck to coaching but he was 17,Ce when he eterted meddling.
Our office was just getting or its feet ofter Halle left it ir a
mess and bring ing in ter typisis would juet create & commotion that
we could not stend. Ve all egreed to go on & etrike If thie thing
were irsisted on. laoko agreed to c¢all Fleming at € tomorrow morning
to tell him of our stand emd I was elected to take up the matter
with Elberson of Llabor Relations snd with Flewing first thing tomo-
rrow. Lveryone wes pretty wmad,

After supper I rushed over to Jim's to tell hiw that D.S. was
coming tomorrow. He knew all about it aslready. On the way back
I stopped at Frank's to bell him and he said that he wes so demmn
busy that he hated to sperd the whole days. It seemed that she had
picked the wrong day because I would be buey toworrow tooe. I wished
that visitors would give ue wore nolices We are busy as hell uround
here and people seem to think we have oodles of time. I explained the
strike situction to Frank and he felt that Fleming and Certer had
made a stupid move. The lssue was: where to put the tem typisis? Mr.
Smith of Mousing felt thet it wae not his business erymore simce ire
Meming had taken over clething, bul he thoughi that the Records
office was the proper place. The regional office workers want that.

When I got home I found Nej there. We talked for a while and had
gome soups I then spent ithe eveming typing records and caught up
with 211 my diary. Now I can stert working in earmest on my documents.
I felt more at ease.




